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1. Introduction 
 

This paper forms part of the release of the revised mid-2002 to mid-2010 population 
estimates for Scotland and its administrative areas. For ease of comparison it is of 
a similar format to the equivalent paper Methods used to revise the national 
population estimates for mid-2002 to mid-2010 (PDF) published by the Office for 
National Statistics (ONS). The revised estimates are for Scotland, Council and NHS 
Board areas and they give a continuous series between the mid-2001 and the mid-
2011 population estimates. This paper summarises the methods used to create the 
revised estimates. Commentary on the revised estimates can be found in the 
Population Estimates for Scotland Mid-2002 to Mid-2010 revised following the 2011 
Census on the National Records of Scotland (NRS) website. 

2. Background 
 

The population estimates for mid-2002 to mid-2010 have been revised to bring 
them into line with the mid-2011 estimates, which are based on the 2011 Census 
(27 March 2011) estimates of the usually resident population, plus the effect of 
births, deaths and migration up to 30 June 2011. The mid-2011 estimate of the 
usually resident population on 30 June 2011 based on the 2011 Census was 
5,299,900. 

The former mid-2002 to mid-2010 estimates were based on change as a result of 
published data on births, deaths and migration since mid-2001. If the 2011 Census 
estimates had not been available the equivalent mid-2011 population estimates for 
Scotland would have been 5,254,800 which is 45,100 (0.9 per cent) lower than the 
new 2011 mid-year estimate based on the 2011 Census. The mid-2011 population 
estimates for each Council and NHS Board area would also have been different: for 
some areas lower, in other areas higher. 

This paper describes how the potential causes of this 45,100 difference have been 
determined and how they have been distributed across the decade to create the 
revised mid-2002 to mid-2010 series. 

3. Definitions and principles 
 

The process of creating annual population estimates through the addition of the 
effects of births, deaths and migration is referred to as ‘rolling forward’. In this paper 
the estimates rolled forward from mid-2001 are referred to as the ‘rolled-forward 
mid-2011 estimates’, and those created using the 2011 Census estimates as the 
starting point are referred to as the official (2011 Census-based) mid-2011 
estimates. 

All annual population estimates are based on the usual resident population, which 
excludes the effects of short-term international migration. This means that 
immigrants who do not intend to stay in Scotland for at least 12 months are 
excluded. Conversely, emigrants who intend to stay outside of Scotland for less 
than 12 months are included. 

The factors contributing to the difference between the rolled-forward and official 
mid-2011 estimates are referred to in this paper as ‘components of difference’. 
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Identification and estimation of the components of difference was done at national 
level, as they could not reliably be derived directly at sub-national level. In practice 
there is substantial estimation around most of the components of difference which 
have been identified. They should be considered as best approximations, based on 
the evidence available, of how the difference between the rolled-forward and official 
mid-2011 estimates arose. 

The components were then broken down to sub-national level with their national 
total being retained. For each component methods have been applied consistently 
across the country. 

Once estimates of these components of difference have been taken into account 
the remaining difference has been allocated to a general ‘Unattributable’ 
component rather than being arbitrarily, and potentially incorrectly, assigned to 
specific causes. This approach is in line with the approach taken by the Office for 
National Statistics (ONS) and with international best practice. 

4. Summary of components of difference 
 

The official estimate of the mid-2011 population of Scotland is 5,299,900, which is 
45,100 higher than the rolled-forward mid-2011 estimate of 5,254,800. The revised 
population estimates for mid-2002 to mid-2010 attributed this 45,100 difference as 
shown in Table 1. 

Table 1:  Components explaining the difference between the mid-2011 
official and mid-2011 rolled-forward estimates for Scotland 

Factor Impact on difference Remainder
Initial difference n/a 45,100
Underestimate of international immigration 30,000 15,100
Migrant switcher roll-back 3,300 11,800
Visitor switcher roll-back -900 12,700
Republic of Ireland roll-back 1,700 11,000
Switch to Long-Term International Migration (LTIM) estimates of 
international migration and the removal of the unmeasured migration 
adjustment

-7,500 18,500

Armed Forces 4,800 13,700
Prisoner adjustment -1,600 15,300
Historic processing changes -1,900 17,200
Other 17,200 0  
Detailed explanations of what is meant by each of these components, how they 
were identified and how they were distributed across the decade are provided in the 
following sections. 

Underestimate of international immigration 
 
Analysis of country of birth data from the 2001 and 2011 Censuses (as detailed in 
Annex A) indicated that net international migration to Scotland may have been 
underestimated by 30,000 across the decade. It is believed that this is mainly due 
to limitations in the coverage of the International Passenger Survey (IPS). The 
analysis showed that the largest share of the undercount (approximately 60 per 
cent) is likely to be due to migrants who arrived in Scotland from the accession 
countries European Union (EU8). The ‘EU8’ countries are the eight countries of  
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central and eastern Europe that joined the European Union in 2004, namely the 
Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Slovakia and 
Slovenia. Furthermore, the analysis showed that migrants who arrived in Scotland 
from non- EU countries were also likely to have contributed to the undercount 
(approximately 40 per cent). 

This undercount has been incorporated into the revised estimates and Table 2 
shows how it has been distributed over time. 

Table 2:  Distribution over time of the 30,000 undercount in immigration to 
Scotland from the EU8 and non-European Union (EU) countries 

Year ending
Additional 

immigrants
Mid-2002 1,000
Mid-2003 1,100
Mid-2004 1,300
Mid-2005 4,500
Mid-2006 3,200
Mid-2007 6,700
Mid-2008 6,300
Mid-2009 2,400
Mid-2010 1,300
Mid-2011 2,200
Total 30,000  

 
More details are provided in Annex A. 

Migrant switcher roll-back 
The IPS asks people how long they intend to stay in their country of destination 
(either in the UK for arrivals, or out of the UK for departures). If they are staying 
12 months or more they are regarded as a migrant; if they are staying less than 
12 months they are regarded as a visitor. 

However, some people who originally intend to stay for 12 months or more (and so 
are initially considered to be migrants) actually stay for less than 12 months and so 
are re-classed as visitors. Such people are termed ‘migrant switchers’ and the 
Long-Term International Migration (LTIM) estimates provided by ONS include 
adjustments for this. 

In the LTIM estimates provided by ONS, new methods for estimating the number of 
migrant switchers have only been applied to the estimates from the start of 2004 
onwards. Our revised population estimates for mid-2002 to mid-2004 extrapolate 
these methods to cover the full decade by assuming that the change caused by the 
new methods during the first six months of 2004 would be representative of the rate 
of change in the first part of the decade. This assumption led to the changes shown 
in Table 3. The overall effect was that migrant switcher net flows were reduced by 
3,300, with the result that net international migration to Scotland was increased by 
3,300. 
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Table 3: Migrant switcher roll-back adjustments  
Year ending Inflows Outflows Netflows
Mid-2002 -600 720 -1,320
Mid-2003 -600 720 -1,320
Mid-2004 -300 360 -660
Total -1,500 1,800 -3,300  
 
Visitor switcher roll-back 
Visitor switchers are people who originally intend to stay for less than 12 months 
but then go on to stay for 12 months or more (either into the UK for arrivals, or out 
of the UK for departures). This means that they are re-classed from visitors to 
migrants. Such people are termed ‘visitor switchers’ and the LTIM estimates 
provided by ONS include adjustments for this. 

The methods for estimating the number of visitor switchers were improved for 
estimates from the start of 2004 onwards; however, as with migrant switchers they 
were not applied to the earlier part of the decade due to lack of comparable data. 

Also as with migrant switchers, it was assumed that the change caused by the new 
methods on the visitor switcher estimates for the first six months of 2004 would be 
representative of the rate of change for the period from mid-2001 to the end of 
2003. This assumption leads to the changes shown in Table 4. The overall effect of 
this is that visitor switcher net flows have reduced by 7,500. This means that an 
estimated 900 fewer visitors switched to being migrants, with the result that net 
international migration to Scotland has been reduced by 900. 

Table 4: Visitor switcher roll-back 
 

Year ending Inflows Outflows Netflows
Mid-2002 -1,280 -920 -360
Mid-2003 -1,280 -920 -360
Mid-2004 -640 -460 -180
Total -3,200 -2,300 -900  

 
Republic of Ireland migration roll-back 
The methods for estimating long-term migration to and from the Republic of Ireland 
were changed during the decade. Up to the mid-2008 estimates, data from the Irish 
Central Statistics Office (CSO) were used. However, from the mid-2009 estimates 
onwards the source was the International Passenger Survey (IPS). 

Analysis of the differences between the CSO and IPS data for the rest of the 
decade suggests that had the IPS data been used throughout, net migration 
between the Republic of Ireland and Scotland would have been 1,700 higher. This 
net migration figure would have comprised 610 more immigrants and 1,090 fewer 
emigrants and these additional migrants have been added to the revised estimates. 

Sub-national distribution of these additional migrants 
Having decided how many additional migrants to add to each year, these additional 
migrants were then added to the LTIM series and allocated to Council and NHS 
Board areas. This allocation was carried out by re-running the Community Health 
Index (CHI) and the National Health Service Central Register (NHSCR) processing 
using the revised international migration methodology which has been outlined in 
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Paper 5 of a recent Population and Migration Statistics (PAMS) committee paper 
International Migration Distribution Methodology), more information on the migration 
processing can be found within the Mid-Year Population Estimates for Scotland: 
Methodology Guide (published for the mid-2011 and mid-2012 population estimates 
on 8 August 2013). Both of these documents can be found on the NRS website. 

Switch to Long-Term International Migration (LTIM) estimates of international 
migration and the removal of the unmeasured migration adjustment 
In the previous series the International Passenger Survey (IPS) was used up to and 
including mid-2006 to estimate international migration to Scotland. From mid-2007 
onwards provisional LTIM estimates were used. In our revised series we have used 
finalised LTIM estimates for every year across the decade. Furthermore, the 
unmeasured migration adjustment which was applied to the previous series in the 
years ending mid-2002 to mid-2006 has not been applied in the revised series. 
Across the decade the unmeasured migration adjustment reduced net migration to 
Scotland by 9,700. Together these result in a difference across the decade of 
approximately -7,500. 

Armed Forces 
Changes in the number of armed forces personnel stationed in Scotland were 
accounted for in the previous rolled-forward population estimates for mid-2002 to 
mid-2010 using a combination of 2001 Census data, information from Defence 
Analytical Services and Advice (DASA) and data collected from armed forces bases 
in Scotland. In the revised series we have used a combination of 2011 Census 
data, information from DASA and data collected from armed forces bases. This 
information has been used in all Council (NHS Board) areas except for Moray 
(Grampian) where an adjustment has been made to better reflect the results from 
the 2011 Census across the decade. This results in a net difference of 
approximately 4,800 across the decade. 

Cross border and within Scotland migration 
No adjustments have been made for cross border or internal migration within 
Scotland. Further work is planned going forwards to investigate additional sources 
such as Higher Education Statistics Agency (HESA) data for students and also to 
compare with address 12 months ago information from the 2011 Census when it is 
available. This will feed into future improvements. 

Asylum seekers 
The number of asylum seekers in the previous series from 2002 to 2006 were 
based on estimates provided by the Office for National Statistics (ONS) and the 
Home Office. From 2007 they were based on the asylum seeker estimates made by 
ONS as part of the Long Term International Migration series. For the revised 
estimates for 2002 to 2010 the methodology used from 2007 has been applied. 
That is the LTIM estimate of asylum seeker in and out flows have been used along 
with immigration information published by the Home Office on asylum seekers in 
receipt of section 95 support by local authority. In the revised series as in the old 
series those who are in receipt of section 95 support are allocated to Glasgow but 
there have been changes in the levels used for the earlier years. The asylum 
seeker estimates used in the new revised estimates are now consistently estimated 
from the LTIM and Home Office sources across the decade. 
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Prisoner adjustment 
Changes in the prison population in Scotland were accounted for in the previous 
rolled-forward population estimates for mid-2002 to mid-2010 using information 
from the Scottish Prison Service. For the new series revised prisoner estimates for 
mid-2002 and mid-2003 have been used rather than those originally used in the 
previous rolled-forward population estimates. Since prisoners are treated as a 
special population this has no effect across the decade. However, when rolling-
back we have applied a prisoner adjustment which removes prisoners from the 
general population when they are sent to prison and adds them back into the 
general population when they are released from prison. Since Scotland’s prison 
population has grown across the decade, had this adjustment been made in the 
previous rolled-forward population estimates then the difference between the rolled-
forward and census based mid-2011 population estimates would have increased by 
approximately 1,600. 

Historic processing changes 
Historic processing changes have resulted in a difference of approximately -1,900 
across the decade. 

Unattributable 
In total, approximately 17,200 of the difference was not allocated to any specific 
cause. Instead it is likely to be due to a combination of potential inaccuracies in any 
of the following: 

• international migration over the decade, aside from the specific migration 
flows already identified, 

• the 2001 Census estimates, 
• the 2011 Census estimates, 
• cross-border flows with the rest of the UK, 
• within Scotland migration, or 
• any other component of population estimates over the decade. 

 
More information on the derivation and split over time of this component is included 
in Annex B. 

5. Age sex and roll back 
 

In the revised series we have rolled-back from the 2011 Census based mid-2011 
estimates to obtain revised population estimates for mid-2002 to mid-2010. The 
main reason for doing this is that we think the age sex distribution in 2011 Census 
gives a better structure for Scotland’s population across the decade than the 2001 
Census. To do this we simply applied the cohort component method in reverse. 
(For more details on the cohort component method (refer to the  
Mid-Year Population Estimates for Scotland: Methodology Guide on the NRS 
website). 
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In the 2011 Census based mid-2011 estimates all those aged 90 or over are 
grouped together and when ageing-back this group we aged back the proportion of 
those aged 90 or over who were aged 90. The proportion to age back was 
determined from single year of age estimates of those aged 90 and over in 
Scotland obtained using the Kannisto-Thatcher1 (KT) method. 

Quality assurance work identified an issue caused by rolling-back from the 2011 
Census based mid-2011 estimates. Student spikes had been captured in the 2011 
Census and were reflected in the 2011 Census based mid-2011 estimates. When 
ageing back, not all of these students were captured in our revised migration data. 
This resulted in implausible numbers of young people in four Council areas 
(Aberdeen City, Dundee City, Edinburgh, City of and Glasgow City) and manual 
adjustments were used to correct these student spikes. The manual adjustments 
were processed so that they had no effect on the Council area totals and only 
effected the age distributions. More details are available upon request. 

6. Future work 
 

The methodology used in the mid-year estimates is ever-evolving and as more 
administrative data sources become available to National Records of Scotland 
(NRS) and as the accuracy of data increases, inevitably, changes to the 
methodology will result. This section outlines several new sources of data that NRS 
are pursuing access to and also highlights areas in the current methodology that 
NRS are working towards improving. 

Migration improvements 
We are continuing to review the process for estimating within UK migration. This 
work includes investigating the use of a direct extract of anonymised records from 
the NHSCR which may allow more accurate information at Council and small area 
level. It is hoped that data from new sources (detailed below) will help us assess 
how well student migration is being captured by the NHS Central Register 
(NHSCR). 

Work to improve the method used to allocate international migrants to NHS Board 
and Council areas is also continuing and further improvements will be considered 
for future publications. We are also hoping to improve internal migration estimates 
between areas in Scotland by using additional sources of data where possible. 

Single Year of Age Up To Age 99 
The 2011 Census results were presented at single year of age up to age 99 and 
then collectively from age 100. Currently NRS is considering whether Scottish mid-
year estimates methodology can be extended to the same age range. We are not 
yet confident in the quality of available data for this group and developmental work 
in this area is ongoing. 

Beyond 2011 
National Records of Scotland(NRS) is currently looking at future census options 
through the Beyond 2011 programme. The recommendations of this project may 
lead to changes in the nature or frequency of a Scottish census which would affect  

 
Footnote 
1) Thatcher, R, 1999, The demography of centenarians in England and Wales. Population Trends 96. 
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methodology for future mid-year estimates. Population and migration branch are 
working closely with the Beyond 2011 team as this work progresses to ensure 
options considered will continue to allow for the production of reliable annual 
population estimates. 

New Sources of Data 
In addition to the administrative data provided by various sources both internal and 
external, NRS is exploring avenues for sourcing new types of data and hopes to be 
able to gain access to data on: 

• people who pay council tax and have occupied exemptions, sourced from 
the 32 Scottish Local Authorities; 

• people in Higher Education, sourced from the Higher Education Statistics 
Authority (HESA); and 

• low level population data on Armed Forces personnel, sourced from the 
Defence Analytical Services Agency (DASA). 
 

7. Conclusion 
 

Determining what has caused the difference between the mid-2011 Census-based 
and rolled-forward mid-year estimates is not straightforward and necessarily 
involves a good deal of estimation. All sources are liable to inaccuracy and although 
the census results are a comprehensive source for 2011, they cannot provide 
certainty over the exact patterns of migration over the decade. 

Nevertheless, it seems likely that net international migration to Scotland has been 
underestimated over the decade, and that underestimation of immigrants from the 
2004 European Union accession (EU8) and non-EU countries has had the single 
largest impact. 
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Annex A:  Derivation of the undercount in immigration from the EU8 and non-EU 
countries 

 
In order to determine how much of the 45,100 difference between the rolled-forward and 
the official (2011 Census-based) mid-2011 population estimates can be attributed to an 
undercount of net international migration we have carried out analysis of country of birth 
data from the 2001 and 2011 Censuses, similar to the analysis performed by ONS in 
Appendix A of their national revisions paper Methods used to revise the national 
population estimates for mid-2002 to mid-2010 (PDF document held on their website). 

The main conclusions from this analysis for Scotland are that: 

• net international migration has been underestimated across the decade; and 
• this appears to be mostly due to an undercount of immigrants arriving from the EU8 

(the largest component) and the non-EU countries. 
 
Using country of birth as a proxy for country of origin/destination we have been able to 
estimate net international migration to Scotland across the decade. Net migration is 
estimated by adding births, subtracting deaths and adding net migration from the rest of 
the UK to the 2001 Census population estimate and then subtracting this from the 2011 
Census population estimate. 

The resulting estimates of net international migration to Scotland by country of birth can 
then be compared with the estimates of net international migration to Scotland from the 
IPS (using citizenship as a proxy for country of birth) leading to Table A.1 below. 

Table A.1: Implied net migration to Scotland between 2001 and 2011 Censuses, by 
country of birth grouping 

Country of birth 
group

2011 Census 
usual resident 

population 
estimate

2001 Census 
usual resident 

population 
estimate

Births1 Deaths2
Net migration 
from the rest 

of the UK

Implied net 
migration

International 
Passenger 

Survey (IPS) 
net migration 

estimate3

Implied 
undercount of 
net migration

United Kingdom 4,926,100        4,870,400        558,800           540,400           79,400             42,100-             51,400-             9,200               
EU8 72,600             3,600               -                   1,700               -                   70,600             29,300             41,300             
EU15 79,000             63,600             -                   7,700               -                   23,000             27,200             4,200-               
Non-EU 217,700           124,300           -                   8,700               -                   102,100           71,700             30,500             
All 5,295,400        5,062,000        558,800           558,400           79,400             153,600           76,800             76,800             

Footnotes
1) Estimated number of births between mid-2001 and mid-2011.
2) Estimated number of deaths between mid-2001 and mid-2011.
3) Estimated net migration between mid-2001 and mid-2011. The IPS estimates are split by citizenship which has been used as a proxy for country of birth.  
 

Table A.1 shows that across the decade: 

• net international migration to Scotland may have been underestimated by 
approximately 76,800; 

• net migration to Scotland from the EU8 countries may have been underestimated 
by approximately 41,300; 

• net migration to Scotland from non-EU countries may have been underestimated by 
approximately 30,500; 

• net migration to Scotland from the rest of the UK may have been underestimated by 
approximately 9,200; and 

• net migration to Scotland from the EU15 countries (excluding the UK) may have 
been overestimated by approximately 4,200. 
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In view of this analysis and also the analysis of other survey data from the Annual 
Population Survey (APS) as detailed in the 2011 Census Reconciliation Report - 
Population published on 8 August 2013 on the NRS website, it would seem sensible to, 
conservatively, attribute 30,000 of the difference between the rolled-forward and the 
official (2011 Census-based) mid-2011 population estimates to an undercount of net 
international migration to Scotland. This was done by adding an additional 30,000 
immigrants to Scotland’s population across the decade.  

Since Table A.1 shows that immigrants from the EU8 and non-EU countries are likely to 
be the two largest components of the undercount of net international migration to 
Scotland, we assumed that 18,000 (approximately 60 per cent) of these immigrants came 
from the EU8 countries and that the remaining 12,000 immigrants came from non-EU 
countries. We then used the inflows to Scotland on the IPS from the EU8 and non-EU 
countries (using citizenship as a proxy for country of origin) to determine how to distribute 
these immigrants across the decade. Full weight was given to the inflows in the years 
ending mid-2002 to mid-2008 and weightings of 75 per cent and 50 per cent were given to 
the inflows in the years ending mid-2009 and mid-2010 to mid-2011, respectively. These 
weightings reflect the fact that improvements to the IPS methodology mean that the 
estimates from January 2009 onwards are more robust. This resulted in the inflows shown 
in Table A.2. 

Table A.2: Adjustment to international inflows 2002 to 2011 
Year EU8 Non-EU Total %
mid-2002 0 1,000 1,000 3
mid-2003 0 1,100 1,100 4
mid-2004 0 1,300 1,300 4
mid-2005 2,100 2,400 4,500 15
mid-2006 1,500 1,700 3,200 11
mid-2007 5,200 1,500 6,700 22
mid-2008 5,000 1,300 6,300 21
mid-2009 1,200 1,200 2,400 8
mid-2010 1,100 200 1,300 4
mid-2011 1,800 400 2,200 7
Total 17,900 12,100 30,000 100  

 
This approach gave a similar distribution to that used by ONS (Table 2 in their national 
revisions paper Methods used to revise the national population estimates for mid-2002 to 
mid-2010 (PDF document available on their website ). Most of the additional immigrants 
were added to the years ending mid-2005 to mid-2008, reflecting the increased flow of 
migrants to Scotland from the EU8 countries (following their accession to the EU in 2004) 
in these years. Fewer immigrants were added to the years ending mid-2009 to mid-2011, 
reflecting improvements in the IPS methodology. It should be noted that whereas ONS 
added no additional immigrants to the years ending mid-2002 to mid-2004, we have added 
immigrants to these years to reflect the fact that flows from the non-EU countries to 
Scotland were recorded on the IPS in these years.  
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Annex B: Unattributable Component 
 

The unattributable component of difference appearing in Table 1 had to be split by age, 
sex and Council/NHS Board area so that it could be introduced to the revised population 
estimates gradually across the decade on a cohort basis. The method outlined below was 
used to determine how this component was split by single year of age, sex and 
Council/NHS Board area. 

Having accounted for all of the components of difference appearing in Table 1 except for 
the unattributable component, we rolled-back from the official (2011 Census-based) mid-
2011 population estimates, obtaining provisional ‘rebased’ estimates for the years ending 
mid-2001 to mid-2010. (Note that we are not revising the official (2001 Census-based) 
mid-2001 population estimates and we should be able to reproduce these estimates by 
rolling-back to mid-2001, hence the use of inverted commas.) The difference between the 
provisional ‘rebased’ estimates for the year ending mid-2001 and the official (2001 
Census-based) mid-2001 population estimates was then calculated by single year of age, 
sex and Council/NHS Board area. (At Scotland level this difference was positive but it 
varied by administrative area.) A proportion of this difference was then subtracted from the 
provisional ‘rebased’ estimates for the years ending mid-2001 to mid-2010 on a cohort 
basis, with the proportion decreasing monotonically as time progresses. 

To illustrate this consider the following fictitious example. Let us assume that the 
difference between the provisional ‘rebased’ estimates for the year ending mid-2001 and 
the official (2001 Census-based) mid-2001 population estimates for zero-year old males in 
Aberdeen City was 100. In this case we would have subtracted: 

• 100 percent (100) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of males 
aged 0 in Aberdeen City in mid-2001 (ensuring that it is identical to the official (2001 
Census-based) mid-2001 estimate); 

• 90 per cent (90) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of males 
aged 1 in Aberdeen City in mid-2002; 

• 80 per cent (80) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of males 
aged 2 in Aberdeen City in mid-2003; 

• 70 per cent (70) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of males 
aged 3 in Aberdeen City in mid-2004; 

• 60 per cent (60) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of males 
aged 4 in Aberdeen City in mid-2005; 

• 50 per cent (50) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of males 
aged 6 in Aberdeen City in mid-2006; 

• 40 per cent (40) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of males 
aged 7 in Aberdeen City in mid-2007; 

• 30 per cent (30) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of males 
aged 8 in Aberdeen City in mid-2008; 

• 20 per cent (20) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of males 
aged 9 in Aberdeen City in mid-2009; and 

• 10 per cent (10) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of males 
aged 10 in Aberdeen City in mid-2010. 

 
The difference between the number of zero-year olds in the provisional ‘rebased’ 
estimates for the years ending mid-2002 to mid-2010 and the number of zero-year olds for 
those years estimated from our revised births, deaths and migration data was taken to be 
the unattributable component for zero-year olds in those years, i.e. in the revised 
population estimates for mid-2002 to mid-2010 the number of zero-year olds are equal to 
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the number of zero-year olds estimated by our revised births, deaths and migration data. A 
proportion of this difference was then subtracted from the provisional ‘rebased’ estimates 
for the years ending mid-2002 to mid-2010 on a cohort basis, with the proportion 
decreasing monotonically as time progresses. 

To illustrate this consider the following fictitious example. Let us assume that in mid-2007 
the difference between the provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of zero-year old females in 
Falkirk and the estimate using our revised births, deaths and migration data is 100. In this 
case we would have subtracted: 

• 100 per cent (100) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of 
females aged 0 in Falkirk in mid-2007; 

• 75 per cent (75) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of females 
aged 1 in Falkirk in mid-2008; 

• 50 per cent (50) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of females 
aged 2 in Falkirk in mid-2009; and 

• 25 per cent (25) of the difference from our provisional ‘rebased’ estimate of females 
aged 3 in Falkirk in mid-2010. 
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8. Notes on statistical publications 
 
An Official Statistics publication for Scotland  
 
Official and National Statistics are produced to high professional standards set out in the 
Code of Practice for Official Statistics, and are produced free from any political 
interference.  
 
This can be broadly interpreted to mean that the statistics:  
 

• meet identified needs of users;  
• are well explained and readily accessible;  
• are produced according to reliable methods, and  
• are managed in a fair, independent and unbiased way in the public interest.  

 
More information is available from the United Kingdom Statistics Authority website. 
 
National Records of Scotland 
 
We, the National Records of Scotland, are a non-ministerial department of the Scottish 
Government. Our aim is to provide relevant and reliable information, analysis and advice 
that meets the needs of government, business and the people of Scotland. We do this by: 
 

• Preserving the past – We look after Scotland’s national archives so that they are 
available for current and future generations, and we make available important 
information for family history.  

• Recording the present – At our network of local offices, we register births, 
marriages, civil partnerships, deaths, divorces and adoptions in Scotland.  

• Informing the future – We are responsible for the Census of Population in 
Scotland which we use, with other sources of information, to produce statistics 
on the population and households.  

 
You can get other detailed statistics that we have produced from the Statistics section of 
our website. Statistics from the 2001 Census are on Scotland’s Census Results On-Line 
(SCROL) website and the 2011 Census results are held on the Scotland’s Census 
website. 
 
We provide information about future publications on our website. If you would like us to tell 
you about future statistical publications, you can register your interest on the Scottish 
Government ScotStat website.

http://www.statisticsauthority.gov.uk/assessment/code-of-practice/code-of-practice-for-official-statistics.pdf
http://www.statisticsauthority.gov.uk/assessment/code-of-practice/index.html
www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics
http://www.scrol.gov.uk/
http://www.scrol.gov.uk/
http://www.scotlandscensus.gov.uk/en/
www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/future-publications
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/scotstat
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Enquiries and suggestions 
 
Please visit our enquiries page if you need any further information. 
Email: customer@gro-scotland.gsi.gov.uk  
 
If you have comments or suggestions that would help us improve our standards of service, 
please contact: 
 

Kirsty MacLachlan 
Senior Statistician 
National Records of Scotland 
Room 1/2/3 
Ladywell House 
Ladywell Road 
Edinburgh 
EH12 7TF. 
Phone: 0131 314 4242 
Email: kirsty.maclachlan@gro-scotland.gsi.gov.uk  
 

www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/enquiries
mailto:customer@gro-scotland.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:kirsty.maclachlan@gro-scotland.gsi.gov.uk
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9. Related organisations 
 
Organisation Contact 
The Scottish Government (SG) forms the 
bulk of the devolved Scottish 
Administration. The aim of the statistical 
service in the SG is to provide relevant and 
reliable statistical information, analysis and 
advice that meets the needs of 
government, business and the people of 
Scotland. 

Office of the Chief Statistician 
Scottish Government 
3WR, St Andrews House 
Edinburgh 
EH1 3DG 
Phone: 0131 244 0442 
 
Email: 
statistics.enquiries@scotland.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Website: 
www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Statistics 
 

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) is 
responsible for producing a wide range of 
economic and social statistics. It also 
carries out the Census of Population for 
England and Wales 

Customer Contact Centre 
Office for National Statistics 
Room 1.101 
Government Buildings 
Cardiff Road 
Newport 
NP10 8XG 
Phone: 0845 601 3034 
Minicom: 01633 815044 
 
Email: info@statistics.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Website: www.ons.gov.uk/ 
 

The Northern Ireland Statistics and 
Research Agency (NISRA) is Northern 
Ireland’s official statistics organisation. The 
agency is also responsible for registering 
births, marriages, adoptions and deaths in 
Northern Ireland, and the Census of 
Population. 

Northern Ireland Statistics and Research 
Agency 
McAuley House 
2-14 Castle Street 
Belfast 
BT1 1SA 
Phone: 028 9034 8100 
 
Email: info.nisra@dfpni.gov.uk 
 
Website: www.nisra.gov.uk 
 

 
© Crown Copyright. You may reproduce brief extracts from the material in this publication 
as long as you fully acknowledge the source. 
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